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MEMORANDUM-DECISION and ORDER

I.  INTRODUCTION

Defendant Eric C. Wilson (“Wilson” or “defendant”) is charged in an one count

indictment with possessing with the intent to distribute marijuana on January 28, 2010, in

violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(a)(1).  Defendant moved pursuant to

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 12(b)(3)(C) to suppress the evidence seized during a

search of the green Pontiac Bonneville he was driving on the above date.  The United States

of America (the “Government”) opposed defendant’s motion.

Case 8:10-cr-00068-DNH   Document 36    Filed 02/15/11   Page 1 of 9



A suppression hearing was held on September 1, 2010, in Utica, New York.  On

December 8, 2010, defendant’s motion was granted and the 124.544 pounds of marijuana

seized from the trunk of the green Pontiac Bonneville was suppressed.  The Government

now moves for reconsideration of the decision pursuant to Northern District of New York

Local Rule 7.1(g).  Defendant opposes.  The motion was considered on submission without

oral argument.

II.  BACKGROUND

A full description of the facts of this case can be found in the December 8, 2010,

Memorandum-Decision and Order.   The prior decision granted defendant’s motion to1

suppress the evidence obtained from Detective-Sergeant Rourke (“Sgt. Rourke”) and

Investigator Peter Barnes’ (“Inv. Barnes”) stop of the defendant outside the boundaries of the

St. Regis Mohawk Reservation (“St. Regis reservation”).  Specifically, the stop was not

authorized as a Title 19 customs inspection; the “close pursuit” exception enumerated in New

York Indian Law section 114(8) did not apply; the officers did not act in a manner consistent

with a citizen’s arrest; the officers had no authority to conduct a Terry stop off the St. Regis

reservation; and the inevitable discovery doctrine did not save the unlawfully obtained

evidence. 

III.  DISCUSSION

In its motion for reconsideration, the Government argues: 1) the December 8, 2010,

decision misconstrued the language in the Designation Agreement issued by Immigration

 United States v. W ilson, --- F. Supp. 2d ----, No. 8:10-CR-68, 2010 WL 4984690, at *1-21

(N.D.N.Y. Dec. 8, 2010).
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Customs Enforcement (“ICE”) ; 2) a violation of the Designation Agreement does not2

constitute a Fourth Amendment violation; and 3) the exclusionary rule should not be applied

in this case because the officers did not engage in deliberate police conduct.  A previous

ruling may be reconsidered and vacated only if: 1) there is an intervening change in the

controlling law; 2) new evidence not previously available comes to light; or 3) it becomes

necessary to remedy a clear error of law or to prevent manifest injustice.   Shannon v.

Verizon N.Y., Inc., 519 F. Supp. 2d 304, 307 (N.D.N.Y. 2007) (Kahn, J.) (citing Doe v. N.Y.C.

Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 709 F.2d 782, 789 (2d Cir. 1983)).  The decision whether to reopen a

suppression hearing lies within the court’s discretion.  See United States v. Bayless, 201

F.3d 116, 131-32 (2d Cir. 2000). 

The Government does not contend that intervening law or newly discovered evidence

invalidates the prior decision.  The motion merely argues that the decision was erroneous

based on a misinterpretation of the Designation Agreement and three cases which neither

party cited but which the Government contends are dispositive.  “[W]here the party seeking

reconsideration bases its motion upon ‘error,’ the court has broad discretion and should not

disregard the law of the case unless it has a ‘clear conviction of error.’”  Taormina v. Int’l Bus.

Machs. Corp., No. 1:04-CV-1508, 2006 WL 3717338, at *1 (N.D.N.Y. Dec. 14, 2006)

(quotations omitted) (Scullin, J.).

 The Designation Agreement was admitted at the suppression hearing as Government's Exhibit2

1.
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The prior decision determined that the Designation Agreement, read in conjunction with

the ICE Directive and memorandum of understanding,  required a cross-designated ICE3

officer to obtain approval from the special agent in charge (“SAC”) prior to engaging in

conduct under Title 19 authority.  The Directive provides that “the authority of the designated

Customs Officer is valid anywhere within the United States, its territories, or Customs waters,

and may be exercised as such, provided that a SAC is consulted and approval is received

from that SAC.”  See Gov’t Ex. 9, ¶ 8.1.5.  It also states: “Use of these authorities without first

having been coordinated and approved by the appropriate SAC is strictly prohibited.”  See id.

¶ 8.3.  The attached memorandum of understanding provides that “ICE designations to

employees of your agency will be used only in situations where there has been a specific

advance approval by the appropriate Special Agent in Charge or Resident Agent in Charge.” 

The Government urges reconsideration based on the same documents that were examined

during and after the suppression hearing and does not point to any new evidence which

causes the original determination to change.  Accordingly, the prior finding that Sgt. Rourke’s

Title 19 authority required advance approval from the SAC will be affirmed.

The Government next argues that assuming Sgt. Rourke’s conduct was not authorized

under Title 19, the violation does not require suppression because the stop did not constitute

an unreasonable, unconstitutional search.  See Virigina v. Moore, 553 U.S. 164, 128 S. Ct.

1598 (2008).  Further, they contend that suppression is unwarranted because Sgt. Rourke

and Inv. Barnes’ conduct was not “sufficiently deliberate that exclusion can meaningfully

 An 11 page document titled “ICE Office of Investigations Directive” was admitted at the3

suppression hearing as Government's Exhibit 9.  The last page of the document was referred to by the

parties as a local memorandum of understanding between the ICE agent in charge in Buffalo, New York

and the St. Regis Mohawk Tribal Police Department.  The memorandum concerns the delegation of Title

19 customs authority to cross-designated officers.
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deter it, and sufficiently culpable that such deterrence is worth the price paid by the justice

system.”  United States v. Rosa, 626 F.3d 56 (2d Cir. 2010) (quoting Herring v. United

States, 555 U.S. 135, ---, 129 S. Ct. 695, 702 (2009)); see also United States v. Julius, 610

F.3d 60, 68 (2d Cir. 2010).  The Government failed to cite any of these cases in opposition to

defendant’s motion to suppress.  Moore was decided in 2008; Rosa on October 27, 2010,

while this motion was still pending; and Julius on June 11, 2010, after the instant motion was

made but before the suppression hearing took place.  While none of those decisions

constitute an intervening change in the controlling law, the motion for reconsideration will be

granted to examine these cases which the Government contends were overlooked. 

The Supreme Court in Moore specifically addressed whether “a police officer violates

the Fourth Amendment by making an arrest based on probable cause but prohibited by state

law.”  553 U.S. at 166, 128 S. Ct. at 1601.  In Moore, the defendant was arrested for driving

with a suspended license.  Id. at 167, 128 S. Ct. at 1602.  Under Florida state law, the

officers should have issued a summons to the defendant instead of arresting him.  Id.  The

officers conducted a search of Moore following his arrest and found 16 grams of crack

cocaine and $516 in cash.   Id.  The Supreme Court found that the Fourth Amendment was4

not violated even though the arrest was not permitted under state law.  The Court held that

“when an officer has probable cause to believe a person committed even a minor crime in his

presence, the balancing of private and public interests is not in doubt.  The arrest is

constitutionally reasonable.”  Id. at 178, 128 S. Ct. at 1608.

 The argument below was that since the arresting officers should have issued Moore a citation4

under state law, and the Fourth Amendment does not permit a search incident to citation, the search

violated the Fourth Amendment.
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The Government contends that Sgt. Rourke’s violation of the Designation Agreement is

analogous to the Moore officers’ violation of the Florida state law permitting only the issuance

of a summons.  However in Moore, the Supreme Court found that the officers had probable

cause to believe Moore committed the crime of driving with a suspended license in their

presence.  As previously discussed in the December 8, 2010, Memorandum-Decision and

Order, Sgt. Rourke and Inv. Barnes did not have probable cause to believe Wilson

committed a crime in their presence upon which they could base an arrest.  Moore is also

distinguishable because the officers in that case had the authority to conduct the initial stop

but later violated Florida law by arresting the defendant instead of issuing a summons.  By

contrast, Sgt. Rourke and Inv. Barnes were without jurisdiction when they conducted the stop

off the St. Regis reservation and had no authority as police officers at the time of the stop.  5

The Supreme Court’s decision in Moore is not inconsistent with the prior order suppressing

the evidence seized from the green Pontiac Bonneville on January 28, 2010.

 Nor do the Second Circuit’s conclusions in Rosa or Julius compel a different outcome. 

In Rosa, the police executed a validly issued warrant to search the defendant’s apartment. 

626 F.3d at 58-59.  The warrant authorized the seizure of electronic items such as computer

equipment, electronic digital storage media, video and audio tapes, video and digital

cameras, and printing devices, which the police located and seized from the apartment.  Id. 

The warrant was later found to be defective and overly broad because it failed to state how

the electronic items were connected to any suspected criminal activity.  Id. at 62.  The court

 As also previously discussed, the stop could not be validated using the citizen’s arrest5

provisions of New York Crim inal Procedure Law because the officers were acting under color of law.  See

N.Y. Crim. Proc. Law §§ 140.35, 140.40 (McKinney 2010) (permitting citizen's arrest by person acting

other than as a police officer or peace officer).
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concluded that while the Fourth Amendment was violated by the warrant’s lack of specificity,

the violation did not require suppression.  Id. at 64-66.  The court found that the purpose of

the exclusionary rule would not be served by suppressing the evidence because “a

reasonably well trained officer is not chargeable with knowledge that this search was illegal”

in those circumstances.”  Id. at 64

In Julius, the defendant was a parolee who had absconded from supervision by his

parole officers and violated the terms of his parole.  610 F.3d at 62.  A search warrant was

issued for his arrest and he was traced to his girlfriend’s apartment where officers found him

lying on a bed in a back room of the apartment.  Id.  After he was apprehended, another

officer searched the area where he was lying to see if he had discarded a weapon, narcotics

or other contraband.  Id. at 63.  The officer found a pistol underneath the mattress after lifting

the mattress which hung over the edge of the box spring by a foot.  Id.  There was no search

warrant for the apartment and the pistol was not recovered in a search incident to arrest.  Id.

at 63-64.  The Government argued the search was lawful because Julius had no reasonable

expectation of privacy in the apartment where he was arrested because of his status as a

parolee who violated the terms of his release.  Id. at 65.  The Second Circuit declined to

determine what level of privacy Julius was entitled to and remanded for consideration of

“whether the deterrent effect of applying the exclusionary rule outweighs the cost of the rule’s

application” in light of the Supreme Court’s decision in Herring v. United States, 555 U.S.

135, 129 S. Ct. 695 (2009).  Julius, 610 F.3d at 67.  The Julius Court instructed the district

court to consider whether any circumstances of the search supported a finding that the

officers could be charged with knowledge that the search was unconstitutional.  Id.
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A violation of the Fourth Amendment does not necessarily result in the application of

the exclusionary rule.  “Indeed, exclusion has always been our last resort, not our first

impulse.”  Herring , 555 U.S. at ---, 129 S. Ct. at 700 (internal quotations omitted). 

Application of the exclusionary rule depends on the “efficacy of the rule in deterring Fourth

Amendment violations in the future” as well as a determination that “the benefits of

deterrence . . . outweigh the costs.”  Id.  Moreover, “[t]he extent to which the exclusionary rule

is justified by these deterrence principles varies with the culpability of the law enforcement

conduct.”  Id. at ---, 129 S.Ct. at 701. 

 The Government contends that because Sgt. Rourke believed he was acting within the

scope of his Title 19 authority, his conduct was not so deliberate as to warrant exclusion. 

Sgt. Rourke and Inv. Barnes are charged with knowing their geographic boundaries as

officers.  They knew that their authority as St. Regis police officers was limited to the St.

Regis reservation.  Further, a reasonably well trained officer cross-designated with customs

authority should know the restrictions imposed by that designation.  Sgt. Rourke is charged

with knowing the proper procedures for utilizing his Title 19 authority, including the

requirement that prior approval be obtained from the SAC.  

None of the cases now cited by the Government at this late stage in the proceeding

require alteration of the December 8, 2010, order.  After careful consideration of the facts of

this case, application of the exclusionary rule best serves the competing principles of

deterring police conduct in the future and the cost of letting a potentially guilty defendant go

free.  See Julius, 610 F.3d at 68 (“Herring requires careful consideration by district courts of

whether the goal of deterring violations of the Fourth Amendment outweighs the costs to

truth-seeking and law enforcement objectives in each case.”). 
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IV.  CONCLUSION

After having reviewed the Government’s motion for reconsideration, the exhibits and

testimony from the September 1, 2010, suppression hearing, the December 8, 2010,

Memorandum-Decision and Order, the applicable law, and for the reasons discussed above,

it is hereby

ORDERED that

1.  The Government’s motion for reconsideration is GRANTED;

2.  Upon reconsideration, the December 8, 2010, Memorandum-Decision and Order is

AFFIRMED; and

3.  Trial is scheduled for March 28, 2011, in Utica, New York and pre-trial papers shall

be filed on or before 12:00 noon on March 8, 2011.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: February 15, 2011 
            Utica, New York.

- 9 -

Case 8:10-cr-00068-DNH   Document 36    Filed 02/15/11   Page 9 of 9


